

### GENERAL TERMS APPLICABLE TO AGREEMENTS WITH CLIENTS FOR PROVISION OF INVESTMENT AND/OR ANCILLARY SERVICES, RELATED TO FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

These General Terms have been adopted by United Bulgarian Bank AD, registered in the Commercial Register with the Registry Agency under Company ID Number 000694959, with seat and registered address Sofia, Triaditza District, 89B Bulgaria Blvd.

These General Terms shall apply respectively and shall represent an integral part of contracts for provision of investment and ancillary services and activities, related to financial instruments, which United Bulgarian Bank AD signs with its clients.

These General Terms comply with the requirements of the Markets in Financial Instruments Act (MFIA) and the subordinate legislation on its application, Commission Delegated Regulation (EU) 2017/565 dated 25 April 2016 supplementing Directive 2014/65/EU of the European Parliament and of the Council as regards organizational requirements and operating conditions for investment firms and defined terms for the purposes of that Directive (Regulation (EU) № 2017/565) (OB L 87/1 dated 31.03.2017.

All cases, not provided for in these General Terms, shall be governed by the provisions of the effective and applicable legislation, whereby each individual agreement between United Bulgarian Bank AD and a client may include specific clauses, insomuch as they are not in contradiction with the effective legislation.

These General Terms shall be displayed at a prominent place in the premises of United Bulgarian Bank AD for client services and shall be published on the Internet page of the Bank at www.ubb.bg. Every client shall have the right and the obligation to inform himself/herself of those, by receiving them in person at a branch of the Bank or by printing them from the Internet page.



### **TABLE OF CONTENTS:**

	Used abbreviations and notions:	4
	Chapter One	6
	Data about the Bank and the rendered by it investment services and activities	6
	Chapter Two	8
	Information about expenses and fees, as well as restrictions on receiving and granting incentives	8
	Chapter Three	9
	Relations with Clients	9
	Section I	9
	Section II	10
sustai	Information, provided to clients. Investment advice, rendered by UBB. Precontractual information on integral inability risks into investment advice	
	Section III	12
	Communication between UBB and clients	12
	Section IV	13
	Client Categorization	13
	Section V	13
	UBB Policy on execution of client orders	13
	Section VI	13
	Financial instruments and risks, associated with those	13
	Section VII	13
	Conflict of interests	13
	Chapter Four	14
ancilla	Contractual relations of UBB with clients and signing of agreements for the provision of investment ar ary services and activities. Execution of client orders for effecting transactions in financial instruments	14
	Section I	14
	General Provisions. Clients' assets	
	Section II	15
	Procedure for conclusion of Agreements for Transactions in Financial Instruments	15
	Chapter Five	20
	Rules for conclusion of deals for purchase or sale of financial instruments through an electronic system	20
	Chapter Six	
	Special rules in case of enforcement by third parties on financial instruments of a client	
	Chapter Seven	21
	Liability for non-performance of contractual obligations:	
	Section I	21
	General Provisions	21
	Section II	22
	Other responsibilities	
	Chapter Eight	22



party	Outsourcing the execution to a third party. Performing investment or ancillary services for the account of under the order of another investment intermediary	
	Chapter Nine	
Finar	Obligations of UBB in accordance with the Measures Against Money Laundering Act and the Measures And the Measures And the Measures And Italian State    """"""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""	
	Chapter Ten	23
instru	Obligations of UBB with regard to disclosure of insider trading and manipulation of the market in file	
	Chapter Eleven	23
	Confidentiality	23
	Chapter Twelve	24
	Applicable Law	24
	Chapter Thirteen	24
	Settlement of disputes and handling of complaints	24
	Chapter Fourteen	25
	Record keeping	25
	Chapter Fifteen	25
	Representations and consents	25
	Chapter Sixteen	26
	Amendment and termination of agreements. Agreements' Rescission	26
	Chapter Seventeen	26
	Enforcement, application and amendment of these General Terms	26
	Chapter Eighteen	27
	Final provisions	27



### Used abbreviations and notions:

MFIA	Markets in Financial Instruments Act
POSA	Public Offering of Securities Act
MAMAFIA	Measures Against Market Abuse of Financial Instruments Act
Ordinance No 58 of the Financial Supervision Commission	Ordinance № 58 dated 28.02.2018 on the requirements to the protection of financial instruments and cash funds of clients, on the management of products and on the provision or receipt of remuneration, commissions, other financial and no-financial benefits
Regulation (EU) № 596/2014	Commission Delegated Regulation (EU) № 596/2014 of the European Parliament and of the Council dated 16 April 2014 on market abuse (Market Abuse Regulation)
MAMLA	Measures Against Money Laundering Act
MAFTA	Measures Against Financing of Terrorism Act
Regulation (EU) № 2017/565	Commission Delegated Regulation (EU) 2017/565 dated 25 April 2016, supplementing Directive 2014/65/EU of the European Parliament and of the Council as regards organizational requirements and operating conditions for investment firms and defined terms for the purposes of that Directive (OB L 87/1 dated 31.03.2017)
FSC	Financial Supervision Commission
GT	General Terms
UBB, The Bank	United Bulgarian Bank AD
ICF	Investors Compensation Fund
"Transferable securities"	"Transferable securities" shall mean classes of securities, registered in accounts with a central depository of securities, which may be traded on the capital market, with the exception of payment instruments, such as:  a) shares in companies and other securities, equivalent to shares in companies and other legal entities, as well as depositary receipts for shares; b) bonds and other forms of securitized debt, including depositary receipts for such securities; c) other securities, entitling to acquisition or sale of such transferable securities, or such leading to financial settlement, as determined based on transferable securities, currencies, interest rates or profitability, commodities or other indices or indicators;
Deals, financing securities "Repo Deal"	"A deal, financing securities" shall mean: a) repo deal; b) provision as a loan of securities or commodities and obtaining as a loan securities or commodities; c) deal for purchase with a condition for a subsequent sale or a sale deal with a condition for a subsequent repurchase; d) margin loan deal, upon which a counterparty provides a loan in line with the purchase, sale, holding or trading of securities, however it does not include other loans, for which collateral has been provided under the form of securities; "Repo deal" shall mean a deal by virtue of an agreement, upon which a counterparty
	transfers securities, commodities or guaranteed rights, related to the right of ownership of securities or commodities, in the cases when such guarantee has been issued by a recognized commodity exchange, holding the rights of the securities or commodities, and the agreement does not allow for the counterparty to transfer or pledge a particular security or commodity to more than one counterparty at a time, by obliging itself to repurchase those,



	or exchange securities or commodities of the same description at a particular price on a future date, which has been determined or should be determined by
	the assignor, such as a repurchase agreement for the counterparty, selling the securities or the commodities, and reverse repo agreement for the counterparty that is buying those;
Client:	Any natural person or legal entity, to whom/which an investment intermediary provides investment or ancillary services;
"Professional Client"	A client having experience, knowledge and skills to independently make investment decisions and to correctly assess the risks, related to investing, who/which also complies with the legally determined criteria.
"Retail Client"	A client that has not been determined as either a Professional Client or an Eligible Counterparty
"Eligible Counterparty"	An investment intermediary, a credit institution, an insurance company, a Collective Investment Scheme, a management company, a pension assurance company, a pension fund, other financial institutions, having license or such regulated by the legislation of the European Union and the member states, the national governments, state bodies, administering sovereign debts, central banks and international institutions, as well as such entities from third countries, to which the applied requirements are equivalent to those of the EU legislation. Eligible counterparties may also be deemed other persons/entities, meeting the requirements, defined in Art. 71 of Commission Delegated Regulation (EU) 2017/565, including also persons/entities from third countries.
"Investment Advice"	Provision of personal recommendations to a client, upon the latter's request or by initiative of the investment intermediary, with regard to one or more deals, related to financial instruments;
"Limit Order"	"Limit Order" shall mean an order for purchase or sale of a financial instrument upon a certain limited or better price and within a certain volume;
"Multilateral System"	Multilateral system shall mean a system or mechanism, in which various interests of third parties, concerning purchase and sale of financial instruments may meet through the system.
MTF	Multilateral Trading Facility - is a multilateral system, organized by an investment intermediary or a market operator, which integrates multiple interests of third parties, concerning purchase and sale of financial instruments - within the system itself and in compliance with its non-discretionary rules - in a manner, entailing conclusion of an agreement.
OTF	Organized Trading Facility - is a multilateral system, which is neither a regulated market nor a MTF, within which multiple interests of third parties, concerning purchase and sale of bonds, structured financial products, emission quotas or derivatives may interact within the system in a manner, entailing conclusion of an agreement.
"Trading Venue"	A regulated market, MTF or OTF
"Money Market Instruments"	"Money Market Instruments" are instruments, usually traded on the money market, such as short-term government securities (treasury bills), certificates of deposit and commercial papers, which with the exception of payment instruments have the following features: have value, which may be determined at any time, they are not derivatives and upon their issuance have term to maturity 397 days or less.
"Durable Medium"	"Durable Medium" shall mean any tool, complying with the terms and conditions of Art. 3 of Regulation (EU) № 2017/565 and enabling the client to store information, personally addressed to him/her/it, in a manner, accessible for future use and over a period of time, corresponding to the objectives, for which the information has been provided, as well as allows for the unaltered reproduction of the stored information;
<sub>АРА</sub> Operator	Approved Publication Arrangement Operator - an entity, licensed by the respective competent authority to provide the service of publishing trading reports on the investment intermediary's behalf, as per Art. 20 and 21 of Regulation (EU) 600/2014



### Chapter One Data about the Bank and the rendered by it investment services and activities

### Art. 1. Data about United Bulgarian Bank AD

(1) Name and address of the Bank, telephone and/or other contact information of the Bank United Bulgarian Bank AD, registered in the Commercial Register with the Registry Agency under Company Identity Number 000694959

Address: city of Sofia 1463, Triaditsa Administrative District, 89B Bulgaria Blvd.

Tel. number: 0700 117 17

Internet page: https://www.ubb.bg E-mail

Address: info@ubb.bg;

LEI code: 5299000PCY1EP8QJFV48:

### (2) Languages in which the client may communicate and keep correspondence with the Bank, as well as receive documents and other information from the Bank

- **1.** Clients may communicate and keep correspondence with the Bank, as well as receive documents and other information from UBB in Bulgarian and English languages.
- **2.** The Bank and its clients shall communicate with each other while using any of the methods, listed in Chapter III, Section III *Communication between UBB and the client*, as well as via the electronic trading systems.

### (3) Information about the scope of activities of the Bank, its license and the authorities exercising control on its operations as an investment intermediary

- 1. UBB is a bank with the following scope of activity: public raising of deposits or other repayable funds and granting loans or other funding for its own account and risk; rendering money transfer services, rendering payment services under the Payment Services and Payment Instruments Act; issuance and administration of other means of payment, such as payment cards, travelers' checks and letters of credit; acceptance of valuables on deposit; activity as a depository or custodian institution; financial leasing; guarantee transactions; trading for own account or for account of clients in money market instruments cheques, bills of exchange, certificates of deposit and others, foreign currency and precious metals, futures, options, instruments linked to exchange rates and interest rates, and other derivative instruments, trading for own account or for account of clients in transferable securities, participation in issues of securities, as well as other services and activities under Art. 6, Para. 2 and 3 of the Markets in Financial Instruments Act; financial brokerage; rendering consultations to companies regarding their capital structure, sectoral strategy and related matters, as well as advice and services on the reorganization of companies and acquisition of businesses; acquisition of receivables under loans and other form of financing (factoring, forfeiting, etc.), issuing of electronic money; acquisition and management of stake participations; lease out of safe-deposit boxes against rental; collection, providing of information and references on the creditworthiness of clients; other similar activities, as defined in an ordinance of the Bulgarian National Bank (BNB).
  - 2. UBB has been licensed by the Bulgarian National Bank with resolution of the Governing Council of the

BNB № 340/19.11.1992. The banking license of UBB has been updated in compliance with the Credit Institutions' Act, upon Order РД 22-2250/16.11.2009 of BNB's Governor.

- 3. UBB is a member of the Bulgarian Stock Exchange Sofia AD.
- **4.** UBB has been registered as investment intermediary in the register of investment intermediaries with the Financial Supervision Commission, upon resolution № PΓ-03-81, Minutes № 31 dated May 28, 1997.
- **5.** The state supervision under the MFIA, POSA, the Commission Delegated Regulations of the EU and the enactments on their application, including on UBB activities under these General Terms, is being exercised by the Financial Supervision Commission: www.fsc.bg, №16 Budapeshta Str., Sofia, postal code 1000.

### (4) Services rendered and activities performed by the Bank:

- 1. In compliance with the requirements of MFIA UBB provides investment and ancillary services, by signing written contracts for provision of investment and ancillary services for clients' account and accepts client orders only through individuals who work under a contract for UBB and who are: investment consultants, offering the services as per Art. 6, Para 2, Item 4 and Item 5 of the MFIA, as well as brokers of financial instruments, offering the services as per Art. 6, Para 2, Item 1, Item 2 and Item 3 of MFIA or other persons/entities, entitled to accept orders and conclude written agreements on behalf of and for the expenses of the Bank by virtue of the applicable regulations. UBB may conclude agreements for provision of investment and ancillary services and also through the Bank's or persons, authorized by them.
  - 2. UBB renders the following investment services and activities:
  - **a.** Acceptance and transfer of orders, related to one or more financial instruments, including intermediation for conclusion of transactions in financial instruments;



- b. Execution of orders on the account of clients;
- c. Proprietary operations with financial instruments;
- d. Offering financial instruments for initial sale without unconditional and irrevocable obligation for
- e. Acquiring the financial instruments for its own account;
- **f.** Provision of non-independent advice, regarding financial instruments, created by the BANK and regarding units in mutual funds, created by Managing Companies within the KBC Group (KBC).
  - 3. UBB renders also the following ancillary services, as per Art. 6, Para. 3 of MFIA:
- **a.** Storage and administration of financial instruments for the account of clients, custodian activity included (holding of clients' financial instruments and money with a depository institution) and the services, related to it such as management of the received cash funds and of the provided collaterals, except for the centralized maintenance of accounts for securities;
- **b.** Advice to companies on capital structure, industrial strategy and related matters, as well as consultations andservices, relating to mergers and purchase of enterprises;
- **c.** Provision of services, related to foreign means of payment, insofar as these are connected with the rendered investment services:
- **d.** Investment research and financial analyses or other forms of general recommendation, relating to transactions in financial instruments;
- Services and activities, related to underwriting of issues of financial instruments;

### (5) Type, periodicity and deadline for submitting the reports and the confirmations to a client in connection with the rendered investment services and performed activities

These General Terms shall apply with regard to the type, periodicity and deadline for submitting the reports and the confirmations to clients, in connection with the rendered investment services and performed activities.

### (6) Measures, taken by the Bank to guarantee the financial instruments or funds of clients, schemes for compensation of investors or for guaranteeing deposits

- **1.** In its capacity as an investment intermediary with regard to deals in financial instruments, falling into the scope of the Markets in Financial Instruments Act, UBB AD participates in the Fund for compensating investors retail clients. In line with its obligations under Art. 77a, Para.3 of POSA UBB makes monetary contributions to the Investors Compensation Fund.
- 1.1 In accordance with the envisaged in Art. 77a of the Public Offering of Securities Act (POSA) the Fund ensures payment of compensation to an investment intermediary's clients and those of its branches in the accepting countries through the funds raised from investment intermediaries' contributions to the fund in the cases when the investment intermediary is incapable to fulfill its obligations to clients for reasons, directly related to its financial performance.
  - 1.2 The Fund shall pay compensations to an investment intermediary's clients in the cases when:
    - With a ruling of the respective district court bankruptcy proceedings have been initiated for the investment intermediary, including the cases when the bankruptcy proceedings have been terminated on grounds of Art. 632 of the Code on Commerce;
    - Insolvency, including when the insolvency proceedings have been terminated by virtue of Art. 632 of the Commercial Act;
    - The licence, respectively the permit for performing activity as an investment intermediary has been revoked, with a decision of the competent authority.
    - under the terms and conditions of Art. 77 indent b, Para 1, Item 3 of the Public Offering of Securities Act (POSA).
  - 1.3 More information about the Investors Compensation Fund is available in the fund's webpage:

### http://www.sfund- bg.com.

- **2.** The compensation, paid by the Investors Compensation Fund to every client, amounts to 90 percent of the receivable, but not more than BGN 40 000, whereas compensation shall not be paid to professional clients, as well as to under the other assumptions, described explicitly in Art. 77 indent d, Para 2 of POSA.
  - 3. UBB has taken the following measures to guarantee clients' financial instruments or funds:
  - a. Checking the identity of the client, respectively the representative/ agent, upon each order;
  - **b.** Requiring, and the client shall be obliged to present information about every person, entitled to give instructions and other information to UBB on the client's behalf, in connection with the respective agreement and/or order:
  - c. Exercising control through a separate and independent compliance unit.
  - **d.** Opening a sub-account of the client with the relevant depositary institution;
  - e. When opening a financial instruments account for a client with a third party, UBB shall act with due diligence for the interests of the client in choosing that third party, while taking into account the professional skills and market reputation of such party, as well as the regulatory requirements, related to the holding of funds in order to ensure the client's rights;



- f. Taking the necessary actions to ensure that the safekeeping of financial instruments of its clients with the third party is being performed in such a way, so as to ensure the holding of the client's financial instruments separately from the financial instruments of UBB and those of the third party, by keeping separate accounts by this third party, or applying other measures, providing the same level of protection;
- g. Observing the restriction on use of client assets as per Art. 92, Para 5 of the MFIA, as, except for the cases envisaged in the applicable legislation, execution of the following activities shall not be permitted: offsetting, acceptance as collateral, as well as performing of other activities with regard to the Client's financial instruments, as a result of which a third party acquires the right to dispose of the client's financial instruments, with the aim to remedy an amount receivable, which is not related to an obligation of the client or with the services, rendered to the client by the investment intermediary.

### **Chapter Two**

### Information about expenses and fees, as well as restrictions on receiving and granting incentives

- **Art. 2. (1)** The Bank shall announce in its Fees and Commissions Tariff for Individuals (The Tariff) /Fees and Commissions Tariff for Business Clients (The Tariff) its standard commission under the different types of agreements with clients, as well as the type and amount of expenses to be borne by clients, in case those are not included in the consideration. Commission and other costs can be stipulated in the particular agreement, with grounds and in amount different from the standard ones, with a view to the specifics of the service or the difference from the standard criteria for determining the commission.
- (2) UBB may charge the Client with fees, commissions, surcharges, discounts and/or other fees, including any refundable expenses, incurred upon rendering the services, indicated herein and UBB may share such fees and expenses with a Partner or a third party. These different types of expenses may vary with the various clients and are not standardized.
- (3) UBB shall provide the Client within a reasonable deadline with appropriate information as regards all expenses and related costs, pursuant to the applicable law. Such information shall have to include info, pertaining to investment and ancillary services, including the expenses relating to the financial instrument, recommended or sold to the Client, as to how the Client may pay for it, as well as any payments by third parties. The information on all expenses and costs shall have to be provided in aggregate format, as breakdown shall be provided upon request. UBB shall provide the Client with illustrations of the effect of expenses on the investment, made by the Client on both ex ante and ex post basis.
- (4) Without prejudice to those obligations **professional clients** shall agree with the restricted application of the requirements for detailed information as regards expenses and related costs to the extent, permitted by law, namely provision of an illustration, indicating the cumulative effect of expenses on the return, as well as instruction on the used currency and the applicable exchange rates and costs, in the cases when one or another part of the common expenses and fees has been expressed in foreign currency. The restricted provision of information under the previous sentence shall not relate to cases, in which the rendered investment services relate to financial instruments, involving a derivative.
- (5) In the cases when upon provision of preliminary information to the Client as regards the expenses and related costs, UBB is not in the capacity to provide actual figures, then UBB may indicate the approximate value of expenses and related costs and such approximate value could differ from the actual expenses and costs, charged to the Client.
- Art. 3 Restrictions upon providing and receiving of consideration, commissions and non-monetary benefits from third parties:
- (1) UBB shall not be entitled, in connection with the provision of investment or ancillary services to a client, to pay, respectively provide and receive consideration, commission or non-monetary benefit, **apart from**:
- 1. Consideration, commission or non-monetary benefit, paid or provided by or to the client or his/her representative;
- 2. Consideration, commission or non-monetary benefit, paid or provided by or to a third person/party or his/her representative upon availability of the following conditions:
  - a. the existence, nature and amount of the consideration, commission or the non-monetary benefit shall be indicated to the client clearly, simply, accurately and understandably prior to providing the relevant investment or ancillary service, and where the amount cannot be determined, the manner of its calculation shall be indicated. Upon impossibility to provide the information under the previous sentence in advance, then such information shall be provided additionally at the earliest convenience thereof. The information shall be provided honestly, fairly and in the client's interest and shall present the significant conditions of the agreements, referring to the consideration, commission or the non-monetary benefit in a summarized form.
  - b. the payment, respectively the provision of the consideration, commission or non-monetary



benefit, shall be with a view to enhancing the quality of the service and shall not violate the obligation of the investment intermediary to act honestly, properly and professionally as well as in the client's best interest;

- 3. Inherent fees that provide or are necessary with a view to the provision of the investment services, such as expenses for trustee services, settlement and currency exchange fees, legal services fees and public fees, which in their nature do not entail origination of a conflict with the Bank's obligation to act honestly, fairly and professionally in the client's best interest.
- **Art. 4. (1)** These General Terms and the Tariff shall be displayed at a prominent place in the premises of United Bulgarian Bank AD for client servicing and shall be published on its Internet page. The Bank shall give opportunity to its clients in an appropriate manner, to get familiar with the content of the General Terms and the Tariff and shall sign contracts with clients on the basis thereof.
- (2) UBB shall notify the client also about the possibility of incurring other expenses, related to services and activities performed for the client, which are not imposed by UBB and are not paid through the Bank, and the latter shall not undertake the obligation of determining their grounds and amount. The bank shall not be obliged to notify about taxes and stamp duties owed by the client, insomuch as those are determined individually for each taxable person, based on a multitude of factors, as determined in the tax legislation.
- (3) In case of changes in the Fees and Commissions' Tariff, UBB shall inform its clients about such new fees and commissions, while duly posting the new Tariff at a prominent and accessible place in its premises for client servicing and by publishing it on the Internet page of the Bank. The change in the Fees and Commissions' Tariff shall be performed as per the requirements of Chapter Seventeen *Enforcement*, application and amendment of these General Terms.

### Chapter Three Relations with Clients

#### Section I

### Information, requested from clients. Suitability and appropriateness test.

- **Art. 5 (1)** In the cases as required by the effective legal framework and prior to the provision of investment and/or ancillary services, UBB shall make a suitability and appropriateness test, within the meaning of MFIA and Regulation EU 2017/565.
- (2) The Bank may demand from the Client / the Client's representative an ID card/ Passport/ Identity Document and other documents, as well as require filling in of certain declaration statements, pertaining to the particular product, abidance by regulatory requirements or application of good banking practices. The Client, respectively his/her representative or proxy shall be obliged to provide and/or update upon demand by the Bank documents, data and information, related to compliance with the regulations on the measures against money laundering and financing of terrorism, as stipulated in the local and European legislation, as well as such, regarding the fulfillment of other regulatory obligations, inc. but not limited to: A duly filled in Questionnaire with information about the Client (Know Your Customer - KYC Questionnaire); a Declaration Statement in writing, in view of ascertaining as to whether the person falls into some of the categories as per Art. 36 of the Measures Against Money Laundering Act (a Politically Exposed Person or a person, related to such); a Questionnaire regarding the assets of such a person; a Declaration Statement on the purposes for the automated exchange of financial information and others. Should there be non-performance on the obligation of the Client and/or that of his/her Proxy pursuant to the present Item 2, the Bank shall be entitled to apply appropriate measures, including such, restricting the use of payment services and other instruments on the part of the Client, or terminate the agreements and deals, concluded with the Client pursuant to the procedure, envisaged in these General Terms, or pursuant to the stipulations and parameters of the individual agreements and deals, concluded with the Client.
- Art. 6. (1) Appropriateness test shall be performed in the cases when the rendered investment services are other than provision of an investment advice and portfolio management with regard to complex instrument deals, with the aim for the Bank to assess as to whether the investment service or product are appropriate for the Client and whether the latter understands the risks, relating to the deal. The appropriateness test shall be made based on the information, provided by the Client/potential client about the latter's knowledge and experience in relation to the investment services, related to the particular type of product or service, which are being offered or sought. In the cases when the Bank renders sale of a package of services or products pursuant to Art. 74 of MFIA, assessment shall be made as to whether the package is, as a whole, appropriate for the particular client. UBB may demand from the client additional information, including also the completion of inquiry forms, questionnaires, etc. based on an approved model.



- (2) Upon provision of an investment service to a professional client the Bank shall not make an appropriateness test, while assuming that the former has the needed experience and knowledge to understand the transaction-related risks.
- (3) When the Bank has judged that based on the appropriateness test the product is not appropriate for this Client, the Bank shall warn the Client in writing thereof.
- **Art. 7. (1)** Suitability test shall be performed upon provision of an investment advice as for the purpose what is required apart from the information as per Art. 6 above is also info about the Client/potential client's financial performance, which information shall include, where applicable: Information about the sources and amounts of the his/her/its permanent revenues, assets, including liquid ones, investments and immovable property, as well as his/her/its recurring financial obligations and where applicable information about the period of time, during which the Client wishes to hold the investment, his/her/its preferences with regard to the assumed risk, his/her/its risk profile and the purpose of the investment, his/her/its ability to absorb losses and his/her/its investment objectives, including the admissible for him/her/it level of risk.
- (2) Upon performing a suitability test on a professional client the Bank assumes that the former has the needed experience and knowledge, in order to understand the transaction-related risks and that this particular client has the financial capacity to undertake all related investment risks that are compatible with his/her/its investment objectives.
- **Art. 8.(1).** Upon performing a suitability test UBB shall be governed by the information, provided by the client or by a potential client, unless the former is aware or should be aware that the information is inaccurate, incomplete or not up-to-date.
- (2) Should a client fail to provide information to the Bank about his/her/its knowledge, experience and ability to understand the risks, relating to financial instruments, or such information proves to be incomplete, the Bank shall inform the Client of its inability to assess the appropriateness of the service for the former.
- (3) UBB shall provide a notification in writing about the outcome from the performed suitability test, including info as to whether the particular financial instrument corresponds to the investment needs and objectives of the Client, the latter's investment horizon, his/her/its knowledge and experience, risk appetite and capacity to absorb losses.
- **Art.9.** UBB shall require such part of the information as may be appropriate with a view to establishing significant facts about the client, including client's categorization, the nature and range of services that will be provided, and the types of products or transactions which are anticipated, including their complexity and the risks, associated with those.
- **Art. 10** The Bank **shall neither** demand from the client information, nor shall it perform a test in order to assess as to whether the requested investment service is appropriate for him/her/it, in the cases when: The requested service pertains only to execution of orders or acceptance and delivery of instructions for the account of clients; the order subject is either shares or bonds or other forms of securitized debt, admitted for trade on a regulated market or on an equivalent market in a third country, or in a Multilateral Trading Facility (MTF), money market instruments, shares or units of collective investment schemes, structured deposits and other **non-complex** financial instruments, for which neither derivative instrument nor structure, making it more difficult for the Client to understand the investment-related risk or costs, has been included. In its activities the Bank shall abide by the Conflict of Interest Policy upon provision of Investment and Ancillary Services.
  - Art.11. UBB shall not encourage the client or potential clients for non-presenting the required information.
- **Art.12.** (1) Based on the obtained information, UBB shall make a suitability and appropriateness test pursuant to MFIA and Regulation EU 2017/565, and shall inform the Client thereof.
- (2) The Client shall agree to promptly inform the Bank in writing about any information that could be relevant to his/her/its risk profile, and in particular any material changes in the circumstances, financial performance, his/her dependents, the financial objectives or any other information, which may be deemed relevant and may allow the Bank to perform an adequate suitability test.
- **Art.13.** With regard to the information required under the present section, UBB shall not be entitled to render investment advice and portfolio management services to a client, who has failed to provide the information, meeting the criteria and content, as specified above or other relevant information.

### Section II

Information, provided to clients. Investment advice, rendered by UBB. Precontractual information on integrating sustainability risks into investment advice

**Art.14. (1)** The information that UBB provides to its clients, as well as to potential clients, including in its advertising materials and public statements, shall be understandable, accurate, clear and non-misleading.



- (2) The type and volume of information shall take into account the characteristics of the client (according to Section IV, *Client Categorization*).
- (3) The information shall be provided through these General Terms, the references therein, on a durable storage medium or in another appropriate manner of communication, as specified below, which would help the client understand the nature and risks of the investment service and the proposed particular financial instrument, ensuring subsequently the making of a justified and informed investment decision
- (4) In the cases when the applicable and effective legislation requires the provision of information to the client on a durable storage medium, UBB shall provide information on a hard copy or another durable medium, and on other commonly used optical and magnetic storage media, as well as through notices sent by e-mail in the cases provided for in these General Terms.
- (5) Information shall be provided to UBB clients also via the Internet page of the Bank, when the provision of information in this manner is appropriate with a view to the existing or future relations with the client, when the client has explicitly accepted this manner of provision of information and has been informed electronically or in another manner about the Internet address of UBB page, where this information is displayed.
- **(6)** UBB shall provide investment advices, which are **not independent** (within the meaning of MFIA), as their scope shall be restricted to financial instruments, either issued or created by the Bank, or by entities, related to the Bank. UBB shall provide such investment advices only with regard to units of mutual funds, created by the Management companies within the KBC Group (KBC)
- (7) UBB shall not be obliged to perform a recurring suitability test, nor shall it be bound to make any recommendations whatsoever after a purchase, made by the Client of any assets whatsoever, unless this has been explicitly stipulated in the agreement. In this particular case the agreement shall explicitly stipulate the following elements: a) the frequency and the extent of the recurring suitability test and, where applicable the prerequisites, triggering the performance of such test; b) the extent, within which the information collected earlier shall be subject of re-assessment, and c) the manner, in which the updated recommendation shall be communicated to the Client.
- **Art.15. (1)** Sustainability risk as defined in ESG Regulation is the risk that the value of the investments may be negatively affected by environmental, social or governance events or conditions. The nature of these risks varies along a time scale:

In the short term, sustainability risk is typically event risk. Such risks typically only affect return if the event occurs. Examples of such events include an accident (resulting in litigation for example to compensate damage to the environment); court cases and penalties (for example for failing to respect social legislation); scandals (for example when a company gets bad publicity because human rights are not upheld throughout its supply chain or because a company's products do not comply with the ESG standards it has undertaken to abide by). These types of sustainability risks are deemed higher, when an issuer is less strict on ESG standards; and

In the longer term, sustainability risk refers to risks that may develop over the long term, such as: exposure to business activities that may come under pressure due to climate change (for example parts of the automotive industry); changing product preferences from customers (for example an increased preference for more sustainable products); difficulties in recruiting; increased costs (for example insurance companies that face claims due to changing weather conditions). As this risk develops over the long term, companies can take steps to mitigate it e.g. by changing their product offer, improving their supply chains, etc.

- **Art.16. (1)** UBB offers to its clients funds managed by KBC AM, which are committed to achieving long-term sustainable investment returns for its clients. This means KBC AM makes investment decisions on behalf of its clients based on an investment policy which includes sustainability risks, social, ethical and environmental standards. In its Investment policy, KBC AM takes these sustainability risks into account by:
  - Abidance by the General exclusion policy for conventional and SRI fund, which applies to all funds, distributed by UBB
  - Strict differentiation between sustainable and responsible investing (SRI) funds and other conventional funds, with stricter ESG standards and hence lower sustainability risk for the SRI funds.

The main exclusion criteria used relate to weapons, tabacco, human right violations, anticorruption. The list is not exhaustive and may be changed by the advisory board of KBCAM. More information on these exclusion criteria is available on the KBC AM website.

(2) The investment policy of KBC AM continuously assesses the underlying investments at issuer level, but also (where relevant) at the level of asset allocation and regional or sectoral allocation level. These regular reviews consider sustainability risk as one of several elements that may affect return.



### Section III

### Communication between UBB and clients

- **Art. 17** The communication between UBB and clients shall be made in writing, in one of the following manners, as the particular manner shall be negotiated upon conclusion of a particular agreement, namely:
  - a. by ordinary mail service to the addresses, indicated by the parties in the specific agreement;
  - **b.** through electronic communications, via e-mail, to an electronic address, stated in the specific agreement as well as through e-banking or UBB Mobile application.
- **Art. 18.** The communication from UBB to the client shall also be effected through Internet and shall be made while observing the terms and conditions of the currently effective legislation and in the cases when this is appropriate, considering the relations between UBB and the particular client.
- **Art .19.** The communication may also be made by telephone, if this communication method is agreed in the specific agreement.
- **Art. 20**. The written communication **from a client to UBB** shall be made through submission of documents at the contact addresses of UBB, as well as through submission of documents to a broker or another authorized person/entity, for conclusion of deals in financial instruments, which broker or person/entity works under an agreement with UBB, as well as through e-banking or UBB Mobile application
- **Art. 21. (1)** For the execution of transactions in financial instruments, UBB clients shall submit orders with minimum content, as established by in the currently effective regulatory framework. Orders shall be submitted by the client in person or by a proxy, holding a notarized power of attorney, detailing the representative powers for performing disposal actions with financial instruments.
- (2) Upon the order acceptance, the person accepting it shall check the identity of the client, or of his/her representative and/or proxy, and in case of changes shall record these in the client's file and request from the client/proxy to sign the order, the relevant declarations, as well as other documents and information, in accordance with the currently effective regulatory framework and shall make the necessary checks.
- (3) In case an order has been submitted for conclusion of a transaction in financial instruments, representing a disposal of money or financial instruments belonging to a minor, an unmarried minor, a person under full or partial judicial disability, the requirements of the Family Code shall be observed, by presenting the original of a ruling of the relevant regional court.
- (4) In case an order has been submitted as per the preceding paragraph, including in cases when trustee assistance is being provided, the representative (a parent, guardian or trustee) shall verify his/her identity also in his/her capacity as representative.
- **Art. 22. (1)** With the acceptance of these General Terms, the client declares that he/she/it has provided to UBB complete, true, accurate and non-misleading information, as well as that he/she/it will provide such information upon request, with regard to the conclusion and execution of each specific agreement.
- (2) Upon each subsequent provision of information, the Client shall declare in writing the stated circumstances about the provided information. The client shall be obliged to inform immediately UBB about any change in the provided information.
- **Art. 23.** The communication **from a Client to UBB** by telephone or via another remote method shall be made at the telephones, specified by UBB or other remote communication methods, provided the requirements of the currently effective regulatory framework are being observed.
- **Art. 24. (1)** The communication **from UBB to a client** shall be made in accordance with the address, telephone or another remote communication method, as provided by the Client. The particular method of communication (specification of surface mail address, electronic address, telephone, etc.) shall be notified in writing to UBB upon signing of an agreement.
- (2) Upon change of any of the circumstances under the preceding paragraph, the client shall be obliged to inform UBB and provide up-to-date data within 5 business days from the change occurrence. If the client fails to inform in writing UBB about the change in the agreed methods of communication, it shall be considered that the Bank has fulfilled its obligation to inform the client, if the information and/or documents have been sent by the Bank in accordance with the recent methods of communication, as specified in writing by the client.
- **Art. 25** UBB and its clients may use for communication purposes the electronic trading system, established and maintained by the investment intermediary, provided that its use guarantees the compliance with the requirements of the currently effective regulatory framework and ensures the client's access to a specific execution venue.
- **Art. 26.** If the Client provides an e-mail address for the purposes of its relations with the Bank, UBB shall assume that the Client has regular access to Internet and that the provision of information to the Client via e-mail and/or the Bank's webpage is appropriate with a view to the Client's relations with the Bank. Upon a client's provision of an e-mail address, the Bank shall consider that the former has declared his/her/its consent for receipt of information in this manner.



**Art. 27.** Communications and notices between UBB and the client may be made in any other manner, as 7permitted by the effective regulations and appropriate with a view to the preceding texts, the arrangements in the specific agreement and the particular circumstances. The client may give orders for acquisition and disposal of financial instruments only in the manners, as provided for in the agreement and in accordance with the provisions in these General Terms.

### Section IV Client Categorization

- **Art.28.** (1) UBB shall categorize its clients in accordance with its internal rules for client categorization, under the terms and criteria, established by MFIA.- as professional, retail or eligible counterparty.
- (2) UBB shall notify all its clients of the conditions and criteria, according to which it categorizes them as either professional or retail, as well as of the circumstances, under which they may be defined as an eligible counterparty. UBB shall inform its clients of their right to request a different categorization and the restrictions on their protection in such cases.
- (3) UBB shall provide the information, due to be notified under the preceding article, via a Notification for Categorization on a durable storage medium, in accordance with the provisions of the effective regulatory framework.
- **Art.29.** Clients may obtain additional information as to the MFIA categorization terms, conditions and criteria on UBB's webpage.

#### Section V

### **UBB Policy on execution of client orders**

- **Чл.30.** (1) UBB shall execute client orders in compliance with its *Orders Processing Policy* and *Best Execution Policy*.
- (2) Clients shall receive brief description of the policies, as well as recent data about the quality of execution at the order execution venues, used by the Bank. Clients shall become aware of the policies and the documents as per Para 1 on UBB's webpage as by acceptance of the present General Terms they acknowledge their awareness of the documents on UBB's internet page and consent to those, as well as accept to be informed of those documents through UBB's webpage. In case the Client has no access to Internet or upon request by clients those documents shall be provided by the BANK on a hard copy.

#### Section VI

### Financial instruments and risks, associated with those

- **Art.31.** (1) Depending on clients' categorization UBB shall provide a general description of the financial instruments, subject of investment activities and services under Art. 1, Para. 4 of these General Terms, as well as the risks, associated with those. The general description of the financial instruments and the risks, relating to those, are available on UBB's webpage. UBB shall provide the information under the preceding sentence on a hard copy upon a client's request.
- (2) Upon acceptance of these general Terms the Client consents to receiving information and becoming aware of the risks, involved in each particular transaction type on the Bank's webpage, as well as shall undertake prior to conclusion of any transaction type to inform himself/herself of the inherent risks. In case the Client has no internet access or upon request by clients the Bank shall provide on a hard copy information about the risks involved in each particular transaction type prior to their conclusion.
- **Art. 32.** The indicated information shall be provided to clients for the purpose of their making an informed investment decision. The general description of the financial instruments and risks, related thereto may be supplemented by a subsequent complementary specific description with regard to particular orders by clients under a specific transaction

#### **Section VII**

#### **Conflict of interests**

- **Art. 33.** Conflict of interests is a situation, which arises in relation to providing investment and/or ancillary services by UBB, and may damage the interest of a client.
- **Art.34.** (1) The Bank has adopted and applies a *Conflict of Interests Policy upon provision of Investment and Ancillary Services*. This Policy contains, with regard to particular services and activities, performed by or for the account of the Bank, the circumstances representing conflicts of interest, giving rise to a risk of infringement upon the interests of a client or clients of UBB, including such circumstances, which are or should have been known by the Bank and that may give rise to conflicts of interest as a result of the structure of the group, whose member UBB is and the activities of the other members of that group, as well as the procedures and measures for handling such conflicts.



(2) UBB shall provide its clients, using investment and/or ancillary services, relating to financial instruments with a Summary of its *Conflicts of Interest Policy, as an appendix to these General Terms*. Upon request by a client the Bank shall also provide the former with these Rules on a durable storage medium.

### **Chapter Four**

Contractual relations of UBB with clients and signing of agreements for the provision of investment and/or ancillary services and activities. Execution of client orders for effecting transactions in financial instruments

#### Section I

### General Provisions. Clients' assets

- **Art.35.** (1) UBB shall provide investment and ancillary services for clients' account on the basis of a written agreement with the respective client.
- (2) During the effect of the agreement with the client UBB may request from the client additional information and documents, relating to the Bank's rules for client categorization and the compliance with the regulatory requirements, whereas the client shall provide and update the necessary information.
- **Art. 36.** In compliance with the provisions of the specific agreement, UBB shall open a sub-account in a depository institution for a Client's financial instruments, based on the agreement and in compliance with the terms therein, as well as a bank account with UBB for safekeeping the Client's funds.
- **Art.37.** In the cases when UBB opens a financial instruments' account for a client with a third party, it shall act with due diligence for the client's interests in choosing that third party and in assigning the safekeeping of the client's financial instruments to that third party.
- **Art.38.** UBB shall not be entitled to conclude deals for funding securities with held by it financial instruments of the Client or in another manner use such financial instruments for its own account or for the account of another client, unless the said Client has explicitly granted his/her/its consent in advance for having his/her/its financial instruments used under particular terms and conditions and the utilization of those financial instruments is being made in observance of all these conditions.

### Safekeeping of client assets.

**Art. 39.** The Bank shall confirm through the present General Terms that it separates its own financial instruments and cash funds from those of its clients. Pursuant to the provisions of the applicable legislation the Bank shall neither be held liable before its creditors with the financial instruments and cash funds of its clients, nor shall enforcement for liabilities of the Bank be permitted on the cash funds and financial instruments of its clients.

### Safekeeping of clients' cash funds

**Art. 40.** The cash funds of clients are being deposited in their respective bank accounts, opened with the Bank and in observance of all other requirements to deposits within the meaning of the Credit Institutions' Act. All cash funds, received in line with execution of transactions shall be held in the bank's capacity as a credit institution, and not as a custodian.

### Safekeeping of clients' financial instruments

- **Art. 41. (1)** The Bank shall store the financial instruments of its clients with a depository institution in client subaccounts to the account of the Bank or in accounts, opened to the account of a third party, while observing all other requirements in line with the terms and conditions and the procedure for safekeeping of cash funds of clients, as determined with Ordinance № 58 of the Financial Supervision Commission (FSC).
- (2) The Bank shall inform its clients on a regular basis about the available balances and operations in the accounts for safekeeping of cash funds, as well as about the financial instruments, stored by it and also about the terms and conditions of the agreements, treating their safekeeping with notification periodicity in accordance with the applicable legislation.
- **Art.42.(1)** In cases when the Bank deposits financial instruments with a third party sub-custodian, it shall carry out due diligence upon the selection, appointment and periodic review of that third party and of the arrangements for



the holding and safekeeping of those financial instruments. In particular, the Bank takes into account the expertise and market reputation of the third party as well as any legal requirements related to the holding of financial instruments that could adversely affect clients' rights. However, any commission or omission, non-performance on obligations or insolvency of a sub-custodian may entail loss of client's financial instruments and other losses.

- (2) A client's financial instruments may be pooled with certain financial instruments, belonging to other clients and held in an omnibus account. Accordingly, the Client does not necessarily have rights upon any specific financial instruments, but as per the applicable laws, rights and regulations, as well as the Depositary Services Agreement rights upon the transfer or receipt of financial instruments of the same description and of the same amount. Since other clients of the Bank are also beneficiaries under financial instruments, held in the omnibus account, there might be settlement risk, arising from transactions of such other clients in those financial instruments.
- **Art. 43.(1)** Prior to conclusion of transactions for funding with securities, held by the Bank on behalf of a client, as well as prior to the Client's otherwise utilizing such financial instruments for its own account or for the account of another client, UBB shall promptly provide, prior to utilization of those instruments, clear, comprehensive and accurate information on a durable storage medium as regards its obligations and responsibilities, pertaining to the use of those financial instruments, including the terms and conditions for their return and the accompanying risks.
- (2) UBB shall inform the Client about the possibility for occurrence of encumbrances, collaterals or liens, which UBB has or might have with regard to the financial instruments or the client's funds, as well as the right to offset, held by UBB in line with those instruments or funds.
- (3) UBB may not use financial instruments of its clients for its own account, for the account of its other clients or for the account of any other person except with the explicit consent of the client and under the conditions set by Regulation № 58 of the FSC or any other similar regulatory act.
- (4) UBB may not enter into contracts for securities financing transactions within the meaning of Article 3, point 11 of Regulation (EU) 2015/2365 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 25 November 2015 on transparency in securities financing transactions and reuse and amending Regulation (EU) № 648/2012 (OB, L 337/1 of 23.12.12.2015) in respect of financial instruments held by it on behalf of a client, or to otherwise use those financial instruments for its own account or for the account of another person or client of the Bank.
  - (5) The restriction under paragraph (4) shall not apply if the following conditions are simultaneously fulfilled:
- 1. the customer has given his prior express consent to the use of the financial instruments, which consent shall be in writing
- 2. the use of the financial instruments of that customer is limited to the specified conditions to which the customer has previously agreed.

### Restrictions upon establishment of financial collateral

- **Art. 44. (1)** The Bank shall not conclude with retail clients agreements for financial collaterals with transfer of the collateral ownership, in view of securing present, future, definite, conditional or anticipated liabilities of the Client.
- (2) The Bank may conclude agreements for financial collateral, involving transfer of ownership on the collateral with a professional client in the cases when the client has liabilities to the Bank, when the subject of collateral are the client's assets. Prior to conclusion of an agreement for financial collateral with transfer of ownership on the collateral, being assets of professional clients, the bank shall prepare an analysis in writing as regards the appropriateness of such an agreement's conclusion.
- (3) The establishment of financial collateral shall be made while also observing all other requirements, as determined with Ordinance № 58 of the FSC.

#### Section II

### Procedure for conclusion of Agreements for Transactions in Financial Instruments

**Art.45.(1)** The relations, having occurred between UBB, in its capacity as an investment intermediary (IP) and the respective client of the Bank in line with a transaction that is being executed and/ or a particular financial service, shall be regulated in a written agreement, while applying the currently effective General Terms, which General Terms shall be respectively applied following their acceptance in writing by the Client.

UBB shall execute orders for a client's account, including through proprietary deals' conclusion. Client of UBB shall be deemed an investor (a natural person or a legal entity), to whom/which the Bank renders investment or ancillary services.

- (2) Prior to agreement conclusion, UBB shall provide an opportunity to its clients to inform themselves of the effective General Terms and the policies/ rules of the Bank. UBB shall check the identity of the client, respectively his/her/its representative, and shall require the provision of information, needed for the client's categorization.
- (3) Prior to conclusion of the agreement UBB shall require from the Client information in line with the performance of the suitability and appropriateness test, which the Bank is obliged to perform pursuant to the



requirements of the currently effective regulatory framework and shall categorize the Client as per UBB AD Client Categorization Rules.

- (4) Prior to the conclusion of an agreement as per Para 1 the Client, respectively his/her/its representative, shall have his/her identity verified pursuant to the procedure of MFIA and the Regulation on its Implementation upon the opening of a bank account and while observing the internal rules of the Bank for identification and acceptance of clients.
- (5) The agreement as per Para 1 shall include the data of its signatories, as well as the capacity, in which the person, representing UBB, acts: the main rights and obligations of the parties, conclusion data and place as well as other information, required pursuant to the applicable legislation.
- **(6)** Conclusion of the agreement under Para. 1 through a proxy shall be admissible, only if an original of a power of attorney with attestation by a notary public has been presented, containing the representative power for execution of administration or disposal activities with financial instruments as well as declaration by the proxy in accordance with the statutory requirements .
- (7) UBB shall keep for its records the original power of attorney under the preceding para, respectively a certified copy thereof with attestation by a notary public. If the power of attorney is for multiple use, the Bank shall keep a copy of it, certified by the proxy and by the person, authorized to conclude the agreement for the investment intermediary. The certification shall be performed through affixing of "true to the original" inscription, date and signatures of the persons.
- (8) When the agreement under Para. 1 has been concluded through an exchange of electronic statements, signed with a qualified electronic signature pursuant to the Electronic Document and Electronic Authentication Services Act, the client, respectively his/her/its representative, is identified according to the rules of the technical means, provided by the bank. In the cases when the agreement under Para 1 has been concluded through exchange of statements in electronic form, signed with a Qualified Electronic Signature (QES) pursuant to the procedure of the Electronic Document and Electronic Authentication Services Act, presentation of documents in evidence of the client's identity shall not be required. Signing of an agreement with a QES by a proxy shall not be allowed.
- a) Upon the effecting by the CLIENT of actions via the online banking system and/or the UBB application for mobile banking, through combining the means for authentication and login, as per the stated in the BANK's General Terms on Payment Services for Individuals and respectively in the General Terms of UBB on Payment Services for Business Clients, by choosing/marking of fields and/or buttons, and/or menus for statement, consent and/or confirmation, THE CLIENT shall sign for his/her actions with an electronic signature within the meaning of EDEASA, as, by virtue of Art. 13, Para 4 of EDEASA, THE BANK and THE CLIENT accept and shall deem such electronic signature equivalent to a handwritten one in their mutual relations.
- b) The manner indicated shall be used for signing the CLIENT's statements to the BANK for performance of the following actions with financial instruments, namely: conclusion of agreements, additional agreements, annexes and appendices concerning initiation, amendment or termination of orders for systematic investment and of orders for purchase of financial instruments or of other documents, requiring a signature on the part of the Client.
- (9) Upon signing of the agreement in the manner specified in the previous para, the broker or the authorized employee shall check the identity of the Client, respectively of his/her/its representative by verifying the data, available in the electronic signature /respectively by checking the made confirmations via UBB Mobile and UBB Online. The broker or the authorized employee shall print out the agreement, signed with an electronic signature, declare whether the requirements of the previous sentence have been met and shall indicate the print date.
- (10) When during the check under the preceding paragraph a discrepancy is found between the identity of the person specified in the electronic statement under Para 8 and the holder of the electronic signature, or a discrepancy between the holder of the electronic signature and the person, entitled to represent a legal entity, from which the electronic statement originates, the agreement shall be treated as non-concluded. UBB shall immediately notify the holder of the electronic signature and the author of the electronic statement about the circumstance as per the preceding sentence.
- (11) The provision of the entire necessary information by the client in accordance with the requirements of the current legislation, as well as the providing of information by the client, needed for performing an appropriateness test, may be made through an electronic statement, signed by the client with an electronic signature pursuant to the Electronic Document and Electronic Authentication Services Act.
- (12) UBB shall conclude the agreement as per Para 1 and shall accept the documents, required per the currently effective legislation from a Client only at an address of a head office, branch or an office, entered in the register of the FSC, unless the agreement is being concluded pursuant to Para 8. The Bank shall place at the entrance of each and every branch and office under the previous Para information about its name and domicile, working hours, given and last name of the individual, responsible for the respective branch or office.
  - (13) UBB shall not sign the agreement under Para. 1, if:
- 1. The client or his/her/its proxy has failed to present and sign all necessary documents, as described above;



- 2. The client or his/her/its proxy has presented documents with obvious irregularities or the data therein is incomplete, has inaccuracies or inconsistencies, or there is another circumstance, which generates suspicion as to improper ascertainment of identity or representation.
- (14) UBB shall keep for its records the originals of the certification documents, provided by the Client (certificate for ownership of financial instruments /depositary receipts, interim certificates, etc.).

### Transactions at an agreed price upon a received request by a client for a price quote

- **Art. 46. (1)** If after a submitted request for a price quote by the client the Bank and the client come to a mutual agreement, the transaction shall be deemed concluded, as the parameters shall be confirmed pursuant to Art. 54. In this case the Bank shall debit the amount stated in the confirmation, plus interest, which such has been accrued for interest-bearing bonds.
  - (2) Transactions at an agreed price are being executed outside a regulated market, MTF or OTF.

### Acceptance of orders for transactions in financial instruments

- **Art. 47. (1)** Regarding each submitted order for conclusion of transactions in financial instruments, as well as additional instructions for change of parameters under already submitted orders, the Client shall owe commissions/fees, as per the Fees and Commissions' Tariff for Individuals/ Fees and Commissions' Tariff for Business Clients, respectively. Orders shall be submitted in writing and according to a sample format, provided by UBB, in compliance with the currently effective legislation. Together with placing of orders the Client shall also submit the declaration statements, information and other documents, as per the regulatory requirements.
- **Art. 48. (1)** Submission of orders via a proxy shall be admissible only at a branch of the Bank and in case an original of a notarized power of attorney has been presented, containing the representative powers for effecting acts of disposal with financial instruments.
- (2) UBB may accept orders for transactions in financial instruments given via the telephone as in similar cases a recording shall be made of the conversation with the client, unless provided for otherwise in the particular agreement. Upon request of the Bank the Clients shall confirm orders, placed via phone and declaration statements, submitted by email by the end of that same business day.
- (3) UBB may accept client orders through its electronic trade platforms, while abiding by these General Terms and the Bank's rules on e-banking, relevant thereto.
- (4) UBB shall check with the depositary institution as to whether: the financial instruments, to which the order for sale relates, are available in the Client's sub-account, whether they have been blocked and whether a pledge or lien has been imposed thereon.
- (5) The provisions of Para. 3 shall not apply to an order, given by a representative, who has failed to certify before UBB his/her representative power or by a proxy, who has failed to present in advance to the Bank a notarized power of attorney
- **(6)** The provisions of Para. 3 shall not apply with regard to the transfer of dematerialized securities from a personal account of the Client into a client sub-account to the Bank's account with the Central Depository AD.
- (7) UBB shall provide the client with a signed original of the accepted order, except for the cases when it has been accepted through an electronic trade system or when the order has been placed over the phone or through another remote correspondence method, non-allowing its signing.
- (8) The client shall be entitled to withdraw the order at his/her/its discretion at any time before the execution of the transaction, whereas the client shall pay to the Bank the consideration and the expenses, incurred by the latter.
- (9) The withdrawal of an order by the client shall be either confirmed or rejected by a UBB official, after verifying the order for execution purposes.
- (10) If the order has been executed, the Client shall be held liable with regard to all transactions that the Bank has executed for his/her/its account. The form, procedure and other terms and conditions for withdrawal of orders, shall be governed by the order placement rules.
- (11) The client shall not give orders for execution of transactions on the Bulgarian Stock Exchange, which validity is longer than that, stated in the Regulations on the Activity of the Bulgarian Stock Exchange Sofia AD. As regards OTC deals, orders shall not be placed for a period, extending beyond the date, determined in the agreement.

### **Execution of client orders for transactions in financial instruments**

- **Art.49.** (1) UBB shall fulfill client orders by executing transactions in financial instruments for a client's account at best terms and while making efforts to achieve the best execution, in accordance with the order, given by the Client, in observance of the *Orders Processing Policy* of the Bank and in compliance with the following requirements:
  - 1. immediate and accurate registration and distribution of orders for execution;
- 2. immediate execution in the sequence of their receipt of identical client orders, except when the characteristics of the order or the prevailing market conditions make this unfeasible or the client's interests require something else;



- (2) UBB shall inform retail clients about occurred objective difficulties that may hinder the accurate execution of the orders, immediately after becoming aware of such.
- (3) With a view to its obligation to achieve the best result for the client, UBB shall execute client orders at its earliest convenience, except when this would apparently be unprofitable for the client.
- (4) The Bank shall conclude transactions in financial instruments for clients' account at best terms and while making efforts to achieve the best execution, in accordance with the order given by the client, while following and abiding by the adopted *Orders Processing Policy* and *Best Execution Policy*. The Bank would have fulfilled its obligations to act for the achievement of the best result, if it has executed the order or a specific aspect of the order, while following the special instructions of the client. In case specific instructions have been given by the Client, concerning only a particular aspect of the order, as regards the execution of the remaining pat of the order, for which there are no specific instructions, given by the client, the Bank shall follow its Best Execution Policy.
- **(5)** UBB shall not be entitled to execute an order or a transaction of a client for its own account, by combining these with other client orders, except if:
- 1. the consolidation of orders and transactions would not infringe upon any of the clients, whose orders are being consolidated;
- 2. UBB has explained to each client, whose orders are being consolidated that this consolidation, as regards the particular order, may be unprofitable for the client.
- (6) The Bank shall not request from the Central Depository AD the transfer of dematerialized securities from a personal account to a client's sub-account with the Bank, if the Client or his/her/its agent has failed to provide the original of a certification document (certificate of ownership of financial documents, depositary receipt, interim certificate for ownership of compensatory instruments, etc.) for the securities, or there is another circumstance, which gives rise to suspicion of improper ascertainment of identity or representation.
- (7) In the cases under the above Para. 6 UBB shall apply the rules for consolidation and division of orders, part of the Orders Processing Policy, which complies with the requirements of the effective regulatory framework.
- (8) The Bank shall not be entitled to abuse information on outstanding client orders and shall take all necessary measures to prevent such abuse by any person, working under an agreement for the Bank.
- **(9)** Unless UBB has been notified in writing to the contrary, the Client shall instruct UBB not to give immediate publicity to any limit order of a client (as defined in the MiFID) regarding shares, admitted for trading on a regulated market, or traded via an MTF or OTF, when the order is not being executed immediately under the prevailing market conditions.
- (10) If, on the grounds of a particular agreement, the Bank has undertaken the obligation to organize or monitor the settlement of an order it had executed for a client's account, the former shall perform all necessary acts to ensure that all client financial instruments or funds, received in the settlement of the transaction, have been immediately and accurately transferred to the accounts of the respective client.
- (11) UBB shall be obliged to initiate actions for the execution of a given order only after having fulfilled all prerequisites, stipulated in the regulatory provisions, the rules of execution venue, the agreement for provision of investment and/or ancillary services and the effective General Terms.
- (12) Upon acceptance and delivery for execution to other parties, related ones included, of orders in line with financial instruments, UBB shall act in accordance with the Client's best interest.

### Refusal to execute client orders for transactions in financial instruments

- **Art. 50.(1)** Apart from the cases, specified in these General Terms, UBB shall refuse to execute a client order if the client, respectively his/her/its representative and/or proxy, refuses to submit the declaration statements, as required in accordance with the currently effective regulatory framework. Such refusal shall be ascertained with a separate document, drafted by UBB and submitted for signing to the Client.
- (2) UBB shall refuse to execute an order, if it has been ascertained that the financial instruments, subject of the order for sale, are not available in the Client's account, or have been blocked with a depository institution, as well as if a pledge has been instituted or a lien has been imposed on those.
- (3) The above stated shall not be deemed grounds for refusal with regard to an order for sale of financial instruments, which are not available in a client's account, if the Bank may ensure in another way the financial instruments subject to sale and if they have been delivered on the day of settlement of the transaction, as well as in other cases, stipulated in an ordinance or another enactment, treating this subject.
- (4) UBB shall refuse to execute a client's order for transactions in financial instruments, if, as judged by the Bank, this would lead to violation of the Markets in Financial Instruments Act, Measures Against Market Abuse of Financial Instruments Act, Special Purpose Vehicles and Securitisation Companies Act, Commission Delegated Regulations of the EU or other effective enactments.

#### Payments under a transaction in financial instruments

**Art. 51.(1)** UBB shall require from a client, placing an order for purchase of financial instruments, upon order placement and as agreed in the particular agreement, to provide the funds needed for payment under the transaction



subject of the order, as well as for the payment of the due fees and commission amounts, except in cases when the Client has certified that he/she/it will fulfill his/her/its obligation for payment under the transaction or in other cases, as provided for in a regulatory enactment.

- (2) UBB shall require from a client, placing an order for sale of financial instruments, upon submitting the order and in accordance with the stipulations in the particular agreement, to ensure in his/her/its client account with the Bank the financial instruments, necessary for the execution of the transaction, subject to the order, as well as ensure the due amounts for fees and commissions on the transaction.
- (3) If the rules of the execution venue where the transaction will be executed allow for the execution of a transaction, in which the payment for financial instruments is not being made simultaneously with their transfer, UBB may decide not to demand payment from the buyer of the securities upon availability of the seller's express written consent. This provision shall apply respectively to other transactions for transfer of financial instruments.
- (4) UBB shall effect payments under transactions in financial instruments only electronically, by debiting/crediting the bank account (specified in the particular order) of the financial instruments' buyer/seller.

### Confirmation of an executed transaction in financial instruments

- **Art. 52.(1)** In the cases when UBB has concluded a transaction for the account of a retail client, which does not relate to fulfillment of an agreement for individual portfolio management, UBB shall, at its earliest convenience, but not later than the end of the first business day, following the conclusion of the transaction, send a confirmation on Durable Medium for the concluded deal, as such confirmation shall contain the information, relevant to the specific transaction in accordance with the effective regulatory framework.
- (2) In cases when UBB has concluded a transaction for the account of a professional client or an eligible counterparty, immediately after the end of the trading session the Bank shall provide to the client on a durable storage medium the essential information on the concluded transaction. The particular agreement may stipulate another manner to mutually confirm the concluded deals.
- (3) The Client shall agree to accept the confirmation for the concluded deal at the address/email, stated in the agreement or in some other manner.
- (4) If the settlement is not made on the date, indicated in the confirmation, or some other change occurs in the data, contained in the confirmation, the Bank shall inform the Client under the terms and conditions, agreed herein by the end of the business day, on which the change has become known to the Bank.
- (5) If the order has been executed in portions, UBB shall provide the Client with information about the price of each transaction.
  - (6) Upon a request in writing UBB shall provide information about the status of the order and its execution.
- (7) UBB shall be entitled to provide information in the confirmation of a concluded transaction, by using standard codes, approved by the relevant regulated market, provided that it presents to the Client explanation about the codes used.
- (8) When UBB has accepted a client's order through an electronic trading system, the confirmation for a concluded transaction, respectively the information in this confirmation shall be provided to the client accordingly via the electronic system.

### Statement reports and notifications

- Art. 53.(1) When UBB holds financial instruments and/or funds of a client, including if acting merely as a depositary, the Bank shall send once per quarter on a durable storage medium at the address, specified by the client or provide him/her/it in another agreed manner, with a written statement report of balances and transactions on the accounts of the Client, concerning the financial instruments and funds, held by the latter as at the end of each quarterly period.
- (2) In the cases when UBB periodically executes orders for investments in securities or units in collective investment schemes, UBB shall provide a notification for the executed deals on a durable storage medium at least on a 6-month basis. Notifications shall be provided through the manners, indicated in Chapter III, Section III.
- (3) Upon execution of a client order and in case the information systems at the relevant execution venue, respectively those of the depository institution, allow that, as per the provisions of Chapter Three, Section III Communication between UBB and the Client of these General Terms, UBB shall inform the client when an obligation originates for the latter to disclose share participation under Art. 145 of POSA as a result of an executed transaction with financial instruments for his/her/its own account, including upon fulfillment of obligations under an agreement for individual portfolio management.
- (4) The confirmations and statement reports shall be based on sample formats, drafted by the Bank and complying with the effective legislation.

### Rights and obligations of the client in relation to order placement

**Art.54.** (1) The client shall be obliged to:

1. Give clear, accurate and comprehensive instructions, related to the fulfillment of contractual



obligations, in writing and following the order placement procedure. The client shall be obliged to submit orders for execution of transactions in financial instruments and his/her/its instructions, in accordance with standardized forms, determined by the Bank

- 2. Submit and sign declarations and other documents, related to the transactions in financial instruments, which the Bank provides to him/her/it in compliance with the requirements of the effective legislation;
- 3. upon placing an order for sale or exchange of financial instruments, to provide in the appropriate manner to the Bank the entire agreed quantity of financial instruments, which shall be in a state, allowing for the lawful execution of the order;
- 4. Fulfill in good faith its contractual obligations. The client shall be liable for the authenticity and regularity of the financial instruments, provided by him/her/it for sale or as collateral, as well as about the authenticity of the documents he/she/it has submitted with the Bank, which have to be in the required format. In case of established irregularities, inaccuracies and errors therein, they shall be replaced with new ones, within a deadline, specified by the Bank. In case of the client's failure to do so within the set deadline and therefore the transaction's execution is rendered impossible, the Bank shall not be held liable towards the client.
- (2) The client shall be entitled to make written objections, following the order placement procedure, within 3 days from receipt with regard to confirmations and within 7 days from receipt with regard to statements. The confirmations and statements shall be considered accepted by the client if he/she/it fails to object within the deadlines in the preceding sentence.
- (3) Payment of money to the client shall be made to an account of the client with the Bank, unless an enactment has provided otherwise. The available financial instruments and other property rights shall be transferred, following the procedure, stipulated in the law.
  - (4) The client shall be obliged to accept the results of the executed transaction.

### **Chapter Five**

### Rules for conclusion of deals for purchase or sale of financial instruments through an electronic system

- **Art.55.(1)** The Bank may conclude deals for purchase or sale of financial instruments through submission of orders by Clients via an electronic order placement system of the Bank.
- (2) The access to the system and the input of order by clients of the Bank shall be made in accordance with the requirements of the electronic banking system and after signing the respective agreements for rendering the service. The order, placed through the electronic system, shall be considered placed on the client's initiative. Such order shall have the legally established content, including the necessary declarations.
- (3) UBB shall check if the financial instruments, subject of the order, have been blocked, pledged or distrained. The check under the preceding paragraph shall not be made, if the electronic system provides at any moment up-to-date information and does not allow the execution of transactions with blocked, distrained or pledged financial instruments.
- (4) Confirmation for a concluded transaction shall be made via the electronic system. The payment with regard to a transaction, concluded in fulfillment of an order, placed via an electronic system, shall be made only electronically. Confirmation for settlement of a transaction, executed in fulfillment of an order, submitted via the electronic system, shall be made via the latter, provided that it has such option.
- (5) By accepting these General Terms the Client shall be deemed informed that the confirmation of the submitted by him/her orders for purchase or sale of financial instruments via the BANK's electronic system shall be effected by an employee of the BANK, which may entail minimum delay upon their forwarding to the system of the Bulgarian Stock Exchange AD.

Methods for acceptance of client orders. Recordings of telephone calls and electronic communication, as well as documentation storage

- **Art.56. (1)** The acceptance and initiation by the Bank of telephone calls and messages or of conversations and notifications through electronic communication means, relating to transactions in line with proprietary conclusion of deals or with the acceptance, delivery and execution of client orders, shall be made through technical means and equipment, determined for the purpose by the Bank and made available to particular employees, responsible for the conclusion and execution of deals.
- (2) Acceptance and initiation of telephone conversations and electronic communication as per Para 1 with technical means and equipment, other than those, determined in Para 1, shall not be allowed.
- (3) By virtue of the present General Terms it shall be deemed that the Bank shall notify its clients that the telephone conversations and the electronic communication with those as per Para. 1 shall be recorded.
- (4) Client orders may be placed also through methods, other than those, indicated in Para. 1, on condition that these have been submitted on a durable storage medium (letters by ordinary mail, faxes, e-mails) or these have been documented on a durable storage medium, when submitted in the Client's presence.



- **Art. 57. (1)** The Bank shall prepare and store recordings of all telephone calls and messages or of conversations and notifications through electronic communication means, which relate to transactions in line with conclusion of proprietary deals or with the acceptance, delivery and execution of client orders, notwithstanding whether the deal has been concluded or not.
- (2) The documents and recordings represent evidence and shall be deemed property of the Bank. The documents and recordings shall be provided to the respective client upon request and shall be stored by the Bank for a period of no less than 5 years since their origination. Such period may be extended up to 7 years if this has been demanded by the Financial Supervision Commission.
- (3) The Bank shall store the entire documentation, as well as the information, relating to its activity, on a magnetic (electronic) storage medium and/ or on a hard copy, in compliance with Section VIII of Regulation (EU) 565/2017 in a manner, ensuring their backup storage or their recovery in case of loss due to technical reasons. The documentation, stored in this way is made available by the competent authority for a period of 5 years.

### **Chapter Six**

### Special rules in case of enforcement by third parties on financial instruments of a client

- **Art.58.(1)** In case of a special pledge of securities/ financial collateral, when the client's sub-account for dematerialized securities of the pledgor has been opened with UBB, the Bank shall grant the request of the creditor for their sale or another instruction for their transfer (in case the securities have been provided as financial collateral) in accordance with the envisaged in the agreement with the pledgor and the pledgee and in observance of the regulatory requirements. In case of a special pledge the sale proceeds shall be transferred to the bank account of the depository as per Art. 38 of the Special Pledges Act.
- (2) In case of enforcement or bankruptcy proceedings, UBB shall fulfill the written demand of the enforcement agent, the trustee in bankruptcy respectively, for sale of the debtor client's securities, while applying respectively the requirements of the effective legislation.

# Chapter Seven Liability for non-performance of contractual obligations: Section I

### **General Provisions**

- **Art.59.(1)** The liability for non-performance of a contractual obligation shall be applied in accordance with the provisions of these General Terms, unless it has been excluded by a clause in the respective agreement with the client. The right party shall be entitled to remedy for actually suffered damages and lost profits, which are not covered by the agreed indemnity, provided for by the law. The Bank shall not be entitled to offer clauses in the agreement with the client, entailing unequal treatment, as regards the stipulated indemnities and penalties for non-performance of contractual obligations.
- (2) In case of delay or partial fulfillment of a monetary obligation, the party in default shall owe a penalty of amount, as stipulated in the specific agreement.
- (3) The Client (or, where applicable, any principal or principals, on whose behalf the client acts) shall hereby irrevocably authorize the Bank that at any moment following the occurrence of an Event of Default, in case any amount or another liability, due by the Client to the Bank and/or to any Partner(s) (or, where applicable, on the part of your principal or principals) by virtue of these General Terms has not been paid or fulfilled when due, the Bank may sell, divest from or realize any single investment, traded product or any other property, held by the Bank, or which it is entitled to receive on behalf of the Client (or the Client's principal, where applicable).
- (4) Whenever by virtue of a regulation or an explicitly negotiated stipulated clause in the agreement the right to lien of client's assets has originated in UBB's favor or a right to security, or a possibility to offset counter obligations, UBB shall explicitly inform the Client under the terms and conditions of the effective regulatory framework.
- **(5)** The liability for non-performance of contractual obligations, which has not been provided for in these General Terms, shall be defined in the agreement.
- (6) Other terms and conditions for execution of orders and other obligations, as well as the expenses for the client, when these are not included in the consideration, shall be determined in the agreement, while taking into account the specific features of the individual financial instrument types, the agreement specifics, the rules of the execution venue, the rules of the depository institution, as well as other rules, determined by the institutions on the capital market, as well as the trading customs.



### Section II

#### Other responsibilities

- **Art.60.** (1) UBB shall be liable to the client for commission by its employees and by other persons, acting for and on behalf of and for the account of UBB, in terms of damage, inflicted on the client, only if the reason is malice or gross negligence.
- (2) In the cases when UBB performs investment or ancillary services for the account of a third party under the order of another investment intermediary (a client of UBB with regard to that order), the Bank shall be entitled to receive information about the third party. In such cases, the Bank shall not be held liable for the truthfulness, completeness and accuracy of the provided information or the good faith of the recommendations, provided to the third party by the other investment intermediary.
- (3) The client shall be fully liable for the truthfulness of the information and the accuracy of data he/she/it has submitted, as well as for the documents he/she has signed.
  - (4) The client shall be fully liable for errors, omissions, inaccuracies in the orders, submitted by him/her/it.
- (5) If the Bank outsources to another investment intermediary the execution of an order of a client, the Bank shall be liable towards the client for the appropriate choice of this intermediary. When this investment intermediary is from a third country outside the European Economic Area (EEA) or the order may be executed only at an execution venue outside the EEA, UBB shall only be liable for the appropriate choice of an investment intermediary of a good reputation, as by virtue of these General Terms it shall inform the client that UBB cannot bear full responsibility for the order's execution. The Bank's choice of another investment intermediary, to which the execution of a client's order will be assigned, shall be deemed adequate only and solely if the Bank has complied with the requirements of the applicable legislation as to the choice of another investment intermediary, which abides by criteria for execution of client orders at least equivalent to those, followed by the Bank as per the latter's Best Execution Policy.
- (6) UBB shall not be liable for failure or delay in the execution of a particular order or another instruction of a client, due to reasons beyond UBB's control, such as delay by the counterparty under the deal to close the settlement, or such of third parties (a depository institution, market operator, etc.), as well as due to reasons, related to the activity on a regulated market of financial instruments, multilateral trading facility or clearing and settlement institutions. In these cases the risk shall be borne by the client and he/she/it shall owe payment to UBB of the consideration, agreed in the agreement and the reasonable costs, incurred by the Bank.
- (7) UBB shall not be held liable for non-performance of its obligations under contracts, concluded in accordance with these General Terms, which non-performance has occurred due to:
  - **1.** extraordinary technical reasons, such as information systems' failure, communication lines' disruption, electricity outage, etc.;
    - 2. extraordinary circumstances, such as natural disasters, general strikes, etc.
- (8) The client shall be liable towards the Bank for all penalties, fines and other contractual, legal or administrative penalties, paid by the Bank to third parties (including regulated markets for financial instruments, operators of multilateral trading facilities, counterparties to transactions, institutions for clearing and settlement, regulatory authorities, etc.), where such penalties have been incurred by the Bank during or in connection with the execution of a client order and have been triggered by the client's failure to fulfill his/her/its obligations with regard to such order. Nonperformance of an obligation by a client under the preceding sentence shall include, but shall not be limited to the cases when the client has not provided the necessary funds or financial instruments, which have entailed delayed settlement of a concluded transaction and penalties imposed on UBB in the latter's capacity as a member of the relevant execution venue, or claims for damages by the counterparty under the transaction.
- **(9)** In the cases provided for in this article the client shall be also liable towards UBB for all other direct and immediate damages and lost profits, caused by the client's non-performance, including, but not limited to compromised reputation, adverse effects of non-cash regulatory sanctions, etc.

#### **Chapter Eight**

### Outsourcing the execution to a third party. Performing investment or ancillary services for the account of a third party under the order of another investment intermediary.

- **Art. 61. (1)** UBB may outsource the performance of important operational functions or of investment services and activities to a third party, as well as assign the provision of the services as per Art. 33, Para. 2 of MFIA to a bound agent, while observing the requirements, imposed by the regulatory enactments. This outsourcing under the previous sentence shall be made on the basis of a written agreement between the Bank and the third party, which shall state exhaustively the rights and the obligations of the parties. Upon conclusion, execution and termination of such agreement, the Bank shall act with due diligence.
- (2) The outsourcing of important operational functions, as well as of investment services and activities, shall be made in a way that does not exonerate the Bank, in its capacity as an investment intermediary, from its obligations under MFIA and the enactments on its application. Also, the outsourcing shall not lead to transfer of responsibilities of members of the Bank's managing body or of third parties, managing the Bank's operations, or to a change in the legal



relations of the Bank with its clients or of its obligations to those, in accordance with MFIA and the enactments on its implementation

(3) With regard to the obligations that may originate for UBB in relation to the execution of cases, provided for in Chapter Ten, the provisions of these General Terms shall apply.

#### Chapter Nine

### Obligations of UBB in accordance with the Measures Against Money Laundering Act and the Measures Against Financing of Terrorism Act

- **Art. 62.(1)** UBB is a liable party within the meaning of Art. 3, Para. 2 of the Measures Against Money Laundering Act (MAMLA) and Art. 9 of Measures Against Financing of Terrorism Act (MAFTA) and shall observe all provisions of the effective legislation.
  - (2) With regard to the above paragraph, UBB shall be obliged to:
    - a. Identify its clients and verify their identity;
    - b. Identify the actual owner of a client legal entity, and initiate relevant actions to verify his/her/its identity;
  - **c.** Collect information from the client regarding the aim and nature of the relation, which has been established or is about to be established;
  - **d.** Monitor on an ongoing basis the established trading or professional relations and check the deals and transactions, performed within the framework of such relations, insofar as they correspond to the information available for that client, his/her/its trading activities and risk profile, including clarification of the origin of funds in the cases, provided for by the law;
  - **e.** Disclose to the competent authorities the relevant information in cases stipulated in the MAMLA, MAFTA and the enactments on their implementation, with regard to operations, transactions and clients.
  - **f.** Refuse to perform an operation, transaction or establish trading or professional relations, including opening of an account, when it is unable to identify a client or in case of a non-submission of a declaration on the origin of funds, when such is required by MAMLA, MAFTA or the enactments on their implementation.
    - (3) Disclosure of information before the competent authorities in the cases, defined in MAMLA, MAFTA or the enactments on their implementation, shall not give rise to a liability of the Bank or its employees, concerning the Bank's breaching of other laws or an agreement, including when compliance with law of the operations or transactions has been ascertained.
    - (4) Delay or non-execution of operations or transactions, when such is due to fulfillment of obligations under MAMLA, MAFTA or the enactments on their implementation, or of orders by competent authorities, shall not give rise to any liability of the Bank or its employees for damages.

### **Chapter Ten**

### Obligations of UBB with regard to disclosure of insider trading and manipulation of the market in financial instruments

- **Art. 63. (1)** The Bank, pursuant to Regulation EU 2014/596 on market abuse and the Measures Against Market Abuse of Financial Instruments Act (MAMAFIA) shall be obliged, based on its judgement in each particular case, to inform immediately the Financial Supervision Commission (FSC) about transactions in financial instruments, when there is reasonable suspicion that these comprise trade with insider information or manipulation of the market in financial instruments.
- (2) Persons, working under dependent or independent employment contracts with UBB, shall not inform the persons/entities, for whose/which account the transaction has been executed, their related parties or other parties, about the performed notification, except in cases, explicitly specified in the law. The fulfillment of the obligation in the preceding sentence shall not be deemed grounds for seeking liability, provided the person, making the notification, has acted in good faith.
- (3) Good faith disclosure of information before FSC with regard to the fulfillment of the Bank's obligations under this Chapter, shall not be considered a breach of the restrictions to disclosure of information, provided by law, subordinate legislation or an agreement, nor shall it be deemed grounds to seek liability.

### **Chapter Eleven**

### Confidentiality

- **Art.64.(1)** In the course of its business, the Bank shall be obliged to keep the trade secrets of its clients, as well as their commercial reputation.
- (2) Members of the management and controlling bodies of UBB and persons, working under contracts for the Bank, shall not disclose, unless they have been authorized for that, or use in their favor or in favor of other person,



facts and circumstances concerning the balances and the transactions in the accounts for financial instruments and/or funds of UBB clients, or any other facts and circumstances representing a trade secret, which have become known to them in the course of the performance of their employment and professional obligations. This provision shall apply also in cases, when the mentioned persons are not in office or their operations have been suspended.

- (3) Besides to the FSC, the deputy chairman of FSC, the head of Investment Supervision Division and authorized officials from the administration of FSC, as well as on the regulated market where it is a member for the purpose of their controlling activity and by virtue of an order for performance of an audit, the Bank may disclose information under Para .2 only:
  - a. upon the express written consent of its client, or
  - **b.** when such disclosure has been required and imposed by the law, in compliance with the respective legal provisions and requirements.
- (4) The Bank and the client shall undertake to treat as confidential the information, received from the other party, with regard to each particular agreement, or by virtue of these General Terms and not to disclose it, except under the assumptions of Para. 3, indents "a" and "b".

### **Chapter Twelve**

### **Applicable Law**

- **Art.65. (1)** In case it has been established that any of the provisions of these General Terms or any other specific condition under an agreement, concluded between the Bank and a client, contradicts imperative provisions of a law or by-law, then the imperative provisions of that law or by-law shall have mandatory effect.
- (2) All cases, not provided for in these General Terms or in an agreement with the client, shall be governed by the provisions of the effective and applicable Bulgarian legislation and the EU Regulations.

### **Chapter Thirteen**

### Settlement of disputes and handling of complaints

- **Art. 66. (1)** UBB shall apply effective and open procedures for reasonable, fair and timely consideration of complaints, received from clients or potential clients.
  - (2) Any Client may file a free-of-charge complaint in relation to the use of investment and/or ancillary services, pertaining to financial instruments in a manner, which is the most convenient for him/her: at any branch of the Bank; via the Bank's webpage; at the Bank's head office address; via the Client Contact Centre.
  - (3) A complaint may be filed on a standard form of the Bank, as the complainant shall mandatory state at least two names, a Personal ID Number, respectively a company and a Company ID Number (EIK code), exact address, a telephone number for contact/electronic address, manner of receiving the reply and a signature, as well as an in-tray reference number of a submitted complaint with the Ministry of Interior, in the cases when such has been submitted in line with the subject of the complaint.
  - (4) Within not more than 15 business days the Bank shall reply in the manner, indicated by the complainant.
  - (5) In the cases when the Bank has failed to reply within the deadlines, indicated above, as well as when the decision does not satisfy the complainant a complaint can be filed with the Financial Supervision Commission /FSC/. Address of the Financial Supervision Commission: city of Sofia, postal code 1000, 16, Budapeshta Str. Additional information about the procedure for handling complaints by the Financial Supervision Commission is available on the FSC webpage concerning payment disputes with the Commission for Consumer Protection https://www.fsc.bg/bg.
  - (6) UBB shall enter client complaints in line with the rendering of investment and/ or ancillary services into a centralized Register of Complaints of the Bank, in accordance with UBB AD Rules on Handling Complaints.
  - (7) UBB shall review the complaint of a client in accordance with its internal rules for handling complaints, whereas in the settlement of the dispute the aim shall be speed and objectivity of the decisions made and response preparation, prevention of litigation, protecting the good reputation of the Bank in its capacity as an investment intermediary, as well as analysis and elimination of the causes for the complaint.
  - (8) Anonymous complaints shall not be registered nor considered, unless in the following cases:
    - 1. The complaint refers to breach of the Bank's customer service standards;
    - 2. The complaint contains data about fraudulent or other criminal actions on the part of either employees or clients of the Bank
  - (9) If the opinion on the complaint is not satisfactory to the client, the dispute between UBB and the former shall be resolved through negotiations and mutual concessions. Upon failure to reach agreement within a reasonable period, any of the parties may refer the dispute for settlement by the competent court in Sofia city. The provison under the previous sentence shall be deemed agreement for choosing governing



- jurisdiction as per Art. 117, Para. 2 of the Civil Procedure Code. Prior to referring the dispute to the competent court in Sofia, consumers within the meaning of the Consumer Protection Act (CPA) may refer the dispute to an Authority for Alternative Resolving of Consumer Disputes (ARD Authority), included in the list as per Art. 181p of the CPA, approved by the Ministry of the Economy.
- (10) The period for storing complaints, containing clients' data in electronic format is 10 years, with effect from the date of terminating the relations with those clients

### Chapter Fourteen Record keeping

- **Art. 67. (1)** In the cases when UBB effects transactions with regard to (i) shares, depository receipts, exchange-traded funds, certificates and other similar financial instruments, traded at a trading venue; and/or (ii) bonds, structured financial products, quotas for emissions and derivatives, traded at a Trading Venue, however which transactions are being concluded outside a Trading Venue either on proprietary basis or on behalf of clients, UBB shall give publicity to information, relevant to those transactions (including volume, price and time of a transaction's conclusion), as required pursuant to the Applicable law, through a third party APA Operator or a Trading Venue.
- (2) In case UBB's counterparty is an investment intermediary or a credit institution, the transaction shall have to be announced in public, pursuant to the applicable law, through (i) the selling party under the transaction; or (ii) the buying party under the transaction in case this is the only party, acting as a Systematic Participant, in which case the party in question shall have to inform the other of the initiated act.
- (3) Clients shall give their consent to the Bank for disclosing before third parties (APA Operators and Trading Venues), as well as for giving publicity to respective details of quotes, provided to clients and the transactions, executed in accordance with the applicable law, as such consent shall involve (i) consent to the disclosure before APA Operators, respectively before a supervisory body or a Trading Venue of clients' personal data, insofar as the publishing, respectively reporting of transactions to the supervisory authorities require it, as well as (ii) consent to the disclosure of commercial information, which could pose a trade or an investment secret, insofar as the publishing, respectively the reporting of the transaction require it and to the extent that such consents are needed pursuant to the applicable legislation.
- **Art.68. (1)** UBB shall abide by its obligations for reporting of transactions in accordance with the applicable law with regard to the deals, concluded with the client (or, where applicable, with the latter's principal or principals). With the aim to enable UBB's compliance with its obligations as per the applicable law, the Client shall agree to promptly provide us with data about the transactions, as well as with any other information, which UBB may require from time to time, with the aim to ensure the completion and submission of reports on the transactions to the respective competent authority, as the said reports shall have to include a notification for each and every transaction.
- (2) Clients shall give their consent to UBB for provision of the necessary information and the effected transactions with and for a particular client to third parties (stock exchanges and competent authorities) in the course of submission of transaction reports in accordance with the applicable law.

### Chapter Fifteen Representations and consents

Art.69. (1) By accepting these General Terms, the client:

- a. Consents to and accepts UBB's Orders Processing Policy and Best Execution Policy.
- **b.** agrees that when the *Orders Processing Policy* provides an opportunity for client orders to be executed also outside a regulated market or a multilateral trading facility, the orders may be executed in this manner, whereas the client shall be informed about the possibility for such execution;
- **c.** agrees that UBB may, if necessary, deposit client funds with an entity, which is a related party to the Bank:
- **d.** agrees that UBB may forward orders, placed by the Client, for execution by a third party, which is a related party to the Bank, provided that UBB complies with the rules, stipulated in the *Conflicts of Interest Policy*, whereas the Bank shall inform the Client about the possibility for such execution;
- **e.** certifies that he/she/it has received a copy of these General Terms, as well as all relevant appendices to those.
- (2) By accepting these General Terms, the client warrants that he/she/it has received the information, which the Bank, in its capacity as an investment intermediary, is obliged to provide to the former in accordance with the effective regulatory framework, as well as acknowledges his/her/its understanding and acceptance of the risks, related to investments in financial instruments and his/her/its awareness of the applicable Tariff the Fees and Commissions



Tariff for Individuals /Fees and Commissions Tariff for Business Clients, as well as of these General Terms and his/her/its acceptance of those.

### **Chapter Sixteen**

### Amendment and termination of agreements. Agreements' Rescission

- **Art.70. (1)** Any amendment to an agreement between the Bank and a client of its shall be made upon the explicit written consent of the parties in the form of an annex, concluded in the manner in which the agreement has been concluded, (in praesentia at a branch /office of the Bank or remotely), which shall enter into force as from the moment of its signing by both parties.
- (2) In case any party hereto fails to perform on its contractual obligations, the agreement shall be unilaterally cancelled upon a notice in writing by the right party to the party in default.
- (3) The agreement between the client and the Bank, signed with reference to these General Terms, shall also be terminated, as follows:
  - 1. upon mutual consent, expressed in writing;
  - 2. upon a 14-day prior notice in writing by the Client;
  - 3. with the expiration of the agreement's effectiveness period;
  - 4. in case of death, placement under judicial disability or dissolution of a client;
  - **5.** upon revoking the Bank's license, received in its capacity as an investment intermediary, by the Financial Supervision Commission;
  - 6. under the provisions of Art. 72, Para. 3 of these General Terms;
  - 7. on other grounds, as provided for in the law and/or the agreement.
- (4) After termination of the contractual relations with a client, the Bank shall transfer the client's financial instruments to his/her/its personal account with another investment intermediary or with Register A of the Central Depositary AD. The transfer costs shall be borne by the Client.
- **(5)** The obligations under the preceding paragraph shall have to be settled within 7 days from the agreement's termination on condition that the Client has given all needed instructions for the transfer.
- **(6)** In case of the Client's failure to give the needed instructions for the transfer within the period as per the previous Para 5, the Bank may transfer the instruments in an account of the Client with a depositary institution or in a sub-account with an investment intermediary, selected by the Bank, for which by acceptance of these General Terms the Client authorizes the Bank and gives his/her/its consent thereof.

### **Chapter Seventeen**

### Enforcement, application and amendment of these General Terms

- **Art.71. (1)** These General Terms shall come into force one month after their adoption and shall revoke the existing so far General Terms, applicable to agreements with clients for the performance of investment services and activities, related to securities, as adopted by the Executive Directors of United Bulgarian Bank AD.
- (2) The Bank's clients shall be notified about the adoption of these General Terms via their publication on the Internet page of the Bank and/or by placing them conspicuously in the branches of United Bulgarian Bank AD, where client orders are being accepted.
- **Art. 72. (1)** Amendments and supplements to these General Terms shall be made by the Bank in accordance with the procedure, described further below in the present provision.
- (2) The Bank shall inform its clients about amendments and supplements to these General Terms, by publishing those on the Bank's webpage and/or displaying them at a prominent place in the branches/offices, where client orders are being accepted, as early as one month prior to their enforcement.
- (3) Upon disagreement with the amendments and supplements to these General Terms and/or the Tariff the client shall be entitled to terminate the investment intermediation agreement without prior notice via a unilateral written statement, made before the date of enforcement of these General Terms, respectively the Tariff and without bearing any liability for penalties and costs, except for those, relating to the client's assets. The client shall have the rights, provided to him/her/it under the preceding sentence, as regards each subsequent amendment of these General Terms and the Bank's Tariff.
- (4) In the cases of this agreement's termination by virtue of the previous para, the parties shall settle their relations within a seven-day period of receipt of a statement of termination, as the Client shall not be held liable for default penalties and expenses, pertaining to this agreement's termination by virtue of the previous para, however the latter shall continue being liable for expenses or obligations for payment of default penalties, which have been incurred prior to the date of the unilateral written statement by the Client for this agreement's termination.
- (5) Upon expiry of the period under Para. 2 above and in case of a failure to receive a notification in writing for terminating the agreement pursuant to Para. 3, the client shall be deemed duly informed of all amendments and supplements to the General Terms and/or the Tariff as these shall be deemed applicable to the former.



**(6)** In case the Client refuses to accept the amendments and supplements to these General Terms, the Bank shall be entitled to refuse acceptance of this client's orders, demand the termination of the agreement with him/her/it and suspend the execution of submitted, but non-fulfilled orders of the latter.

### **Chapter Eighteen**

Action Plan pursuant to Regulation (EU) 2016/1011 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 8 June 2016 on indexes used as benchmarks for the purposes of financial instruments and financial contracts or to measure the performance of investment funds and amending Directives 2008/48/EC and 2014/17/EU and Regulation (EU) № 596/2014 (OJ L 171/1 of 29 June 2016) hereinafter referred to as "Regulation (EU) 2016/1011" or the Benchmark Regulation

- **Art. 73.** Pursuant to the Benchmark Regulation, the Bank shall maintain an action plan in the event that an interest rate benchmark on a derivative instrument materially changes or disappears. The action plan currently adopted by the Bank in the part concerning transactions in derivative instruments provides for the interest rate benchmark to be replaced in one of the following ways:
- with an alternative interest rate benchmark, information on the applicable values of which is published on the websites of publicly accessible leading financial websites, which corresponds to the alternative interest rate of the hedging derivative (IRS) AND which is identical to the interest rate benchmark of the credit agreement to which the relevant derivative instrument is linked. Commonly available financial websites are www.euribor.org or www.euriborrates.eu (or another page that replaces the pages of www.euribor.org or www.euribor-rates.eu) or cmegroup.com or other pages that replace the benchmark depending on the currency for which the index is being referenced.

OR

- an alternative reference interest rate, as specified in the interest rate statistics of the Bulgarian National Bank (BNB), information on the applicable values of which are published on the BNB's website or, as the case may be, on another website that replaces the BNB's website, that corresponds to the alternative interest rate of the hedging derivative (IRS) and is the same as the interest rate basis of the credit agreement to which the relevant derivative instrument is linked.

OR

- if interest rate basis quotes are not available/published on the websites of publicly available leading financial websites such as www.euribor.org or www.euribor-rates.eu (or other websites that replace them), and on financial instruments analysis and trading platforms (e.g. Bloomberg and Reuters), then quotes from the interbank market on which the Bank can source funding corresponding to the alternative interest rate on the hedging derivative (IRS) may be used.

It is intended that the initial application of the swap will occur no later than 3 months from the termination of the benchmark or after the expiration of a contractual lock-in period, provided that upon initial pass-through, the rate under the Credit Institutions Act may not exceed the customer's most recently applicable contract rate. For the period between the termination of the benchmark and the initial application of the swap, the last available benchmark rate is used.

**Art. 74.** The text of the Bank's entire plan under Article 28(2) of the Benchmark Regulation, including the rationale included therein for the use of the relevant substitute index, including changes to the plan, shall be made available to the customer upon request, and all notices, statements and information regarding a change to an interest rate benchmark on a derivative instrument resulting from the implementation of, or a change to, the Action Plan under Art. 73 above shall be in writing and shall be deemed to have been received if they reach the Customer's address by facsimile, by personal delivery, by courier, by e-mail or by posting by return receipt requested (via Bulgarian Post EAD or another operator licensed to provide universal and/or non-universal postal services at the option of the sending party) and/or by any other method of service of notices established by law delivered to the Customer's address.

### **Final provisions**

- §1. These General Terms have been approved by the Management Board of United Bulgarian Bank AD by Minutes No. 10 dated 07.03.2023, as the amendments shall come into force as from the legal merger of KBC Bank Bulgaria EAD into United Bulgarian Bank AD.
- §2. These General Terms have been approved by the line executive director of United Bulgarian Bank AD and enter into force on of 22.12.2025.